No. 70099-5

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

AMALIA M. CASTILLO,

Appellant.

COURT OF APPEALS DIV

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The information charging conspiracy to commit first degree murder omitted essential elements of the crime.
- The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms.Castillo possessed a "firearm."
- The State did not prove Ms. Castillo's criminal history for purposes of calculating the offender score.
- The trial court erred in failing to determine whether Ms.
 Castillo's two prior convictions were the same criminal conduct.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. The Constitution requires that the charging document set forth all essential elements of the charged crime. Two essential elements of the crime of conspiracy are that the accused agreed with another person to commit a crime and that at least one of them took a substantial step toward completion of the agreement. Was the information charging Ms. Castillo with conspiracy to commit first degree murder constitutionally deficient where it omitted these two essential elements?
- To prove the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm, theState must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused possessed

a "firearm." A gun that is inoperable is not a "firearm" unless it can be rendered operable with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period. Did the State fail to prove Ms. Castillo possessed a "firearm," where the gun's firing pin was missing and the State did not prove the gun could be rendered operable with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period?

- 3. To prove the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was in actual or constructive possession of a firearm. Constructive possession requires proof of dominion and control over the item or the premises where it was found. Did the State fail to prove Ms. Castillo was in constructive possession of firearms found in the car, where she was merely a passenger in the car and did not have dominion and control over it or the guns?
- 4. The State bears the burden of proving an offender's criminal history for purposes of calculating the offender score. The State may not rely on bare allegations unsupported by evidence. Did the State fail to prove Ms. Castillo's criminal history where it merely listed her alleged prior convictions and presented no evidence to prove the allegations?

5. When an offender's criminal history includes prior convictions that were sentenced on the same date and ordered to be served concurrently, the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) requires the current sentencing court to determine whether the prior convictions were the "same criminal conduct" before including them in the offender score. Here, the trial court included two prior convictions that were sentenced on the same date and ordered to be served concurrently in Ms. Castillo's offender score, without determining whether they were the same criminal conduct. Did the court violate the statute?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The incident

Amalia Castillo has known Francisco Mendoza-Gomez for a few years and the two were close friends. 12/17/12RP 31; 4/24/13RP 89. She worked for him, doing odd jobs such as running errands, doing his banking, translating for him, managing his cars, and helping him to sell drugs. 12/17/12RP 33, 90; 4/24/13RP 84-85, 88-89.

On the afternoon of September 30, 2011, Ms. Castillo was on her way to the bank with her brother-in-law Agalega Pua to deposit

¹ Mr. Mendoza-Gomez speaks Spanish and cannot speak English. Ms. Castillo speaks both Spanish and English. 4/16/13RP 75; 4/18/13RP 92.

some money on behalf of Mr. Mendoza-Gomez, when he called her on her cell phone. 12/17/12RP 42-43; 4/24/13RP 21-22. He sounded scared and nervous and said he needed her help. 12/17/12RP 43-44; 4/24/13RP 22-24. He said he was at his brother's apartment and a man was threatening to kill him or beat him up. 12/17/12RP 43-44; 4/24/13RP 22-24.

Ms. Castillo drove to Mr. Mendoza-Gomez's brother's apartment. 12/17/12RP 44-45; 4/24/13RP 24. When she arrived, Mr. Mendoza-Gomez told her he had caught his brother's wife on the sofa having sex with Juan Zuozo-Moreno. 12/17/12RP 47; 4/24/13RP 26-27. Mr. Zuozo-Moreno was still at the apartment, standing outside by the door. 12/17/12RP 45-46; 4/24/13RP 28. Mr. Mendoza-Gomez was very angry and Ms. Castillo told him to calm down. 12/17/12RP 49. She persuaded him to leave and the two of them drove away in her car. 12/17/12RP 51; 4/24/13RP 29.

About a half hour later, Ms. Castillo and Mr. Mendoza-Gomez arrived at Mr. Pua's room at the Traveler's Choice Motel in Tukwila. 12/17/12RP 52; 4/24/13RP 30. Mr. Zuozo-Moreno was there, along with Mr. Pua, Mr. Mendoza-Gomez's brother, and others. 12/17/12RP 52-54; 4/24/13RP 31. Mr. Mendoza-Gomez became angry again and

grabbed a baseball bat that was in the room. He swung it at Mr. Zuozo-Moreno's legs, saying to him, "You f__ed up," in Spanish.²
12/17/12RP 55-56; 12/13/12RP 110-11; 4/24/13RP 32-35. Mr. Zuozo-Moreno put his hand down to defend himself and the bat hit his little finger, breaking it. 12/17/12RP 55; 12/13/12RP 110-11; 4/24/13RP 36.

Ms. Castillo took the bat from Mr. Mendoza-Gomez and told him to settle his disagreement with Mr. Zuozo-Moreno elsewhere.

12/17/12RP 55-56. She told Mr. Zuozo-Moreno to leave, but because he did not have a car, she offered to drive him. 12/17/12RP 57;

4/24/13RP 36. She took Mr. Mendoza-Gomez's Acura MDX, intending to drive Mr. Zuozo-Moreno to his cousin's house in Tacoma.

12/17/12RP 58. Mr. Pua also came, sitting in the back of the car with Mr. Zuozo-Moreno. 12/17/12RP 60-61; 4/24/13RP 40.

On the way to Tacoma, Ms. Castillo stopped in Federal Way to pick up her friend Eric Tharp, who sat in the front passenger seat.

12/17/12RP 63-64; 4/24/13RP 44. The car was acting up and Mr.

Tharp said it was having transmission problems. 12/17/12RP 63-64.

He suggested they stop at the Walmart to get some transmission fluid.

12/17/12RP 64; 4/24/13RP 45. They stopped at the store and Mr.

² Mr. Zuozo-Moreno spoke only Spanish and could not speak or understand English. 12/13/13RP 80.

Tharp went inside and bought two bottles of transmission fluid.

12/17/12RP 65; 4/24/13RP 46. Then they drove to a Shell station nearby to get a paper funnel to use to pour in the fluid. 12/17/12RP 65-66; 4/24/13RP 52-53. Mr. Tharp went into the Shell station store, got the funnel, and poured the transmission fluid into the car. 12/17/12RP 67; 4/24/13RP 54.

As Ms. Castillo was driving away from the Shell station, Mr. Zuozo-Moreno suddenly jumped out of the car and ran into the store. 12/17/12RP 68-72; 4/24/13RP55-56. Mr. Pua ran after him, followed by Mr. Tharp. 12/17/12RP 68-72; 4/24/13RP 56. Mr. Zuozo-Moreno jumped over the front counter and Mr. Pua and Mr. Tharp caught up to him and punched and kicked him several times as he lay on the floor. 12/03/12RP 65. Ms. Castillo did not see what happened inside the store. 4/17/13RP 43. Mr. Pua and Mr. Tharp ran back outside, jumped in the MDX and Ms. Castillo drove away. 12/17/12RP 72-74; 4/24/13RP 58.

The Shell station cashier and a bystander called 911. 4/11/13RP 125-27. The police arrived, followed by medics who treated Mr. Zuozo-Moreno. 11/28/12RP 18-20. During the beating, Mr. Zuozo-

Moreno received a dislocated jaw and a laceration on his face. 12/17/12RP 129.

Ms. Castillo testified that Mr. Zuozo-Moreno was free to leave at all times and no one pointed a gun at him or forced him into the car. 12/17/12RP 57, 66. She did not see a gun at any time during the incident. 12/17/12RP 70, 96-97; 4/24/13RP 58. Mr. Mendoza-Gomez did not tell her to take Mr. Zuozo-Moreno anywhere or to have him killed, and she never told Mr. Zuozo-Moreno that Mr. Mendoza-Gomez wanted him killed. 12/17/12RP 57, 71; 4/24/13RP 60-61.

Mr. Zuozo-Moreno denied having an affair with Mr. Mendoza-Gomez's wife but admitted he was at her apartment that day talking to her. 12/13/12RP 86-87; 4/15/13RP 42-44. He said Mr. Pua pointed a gun at him at the apartment and pushed him into a car. 12/13/12RP 94-96, 100-01; 4/15/13RP 54-57. He was driven to the Traveler's Choice, where Mr. Mendoza-Gomez hit him on the hand with the baseball bat. 12/13/12RP 104-09. Mr. Mendoza-Gomez then gave Mr. Pua another handgun. 12/13/12RP 108; 4/15/13RP 76-79. Mr. Pua pointed the gun at Mr. Zuozo-Moreno and pushed him into the MDX. 12/13/12RP 111-12. Mr. Zuozo-Moreno said he could not get out of the car because Ms. Castillo locked the doors and Mr. Pua was pointing the

gun at him. 12/13/12RP 115. He said that as they drove, he asked Ms. Castillo in Spanish to let him go but she said, "They told me to kill you and I'm going to kill you." 12/13/12RP 116; 4/15/13RP 95-96. He said he was able to escape at the Shell station only because Ms. Castillo had neglected to lock the doors again when Mr. Tharp got back in the car. 12/13/12RP 124-25; 4/15/13RP 108-09.

In return for a reduction in charges, Mr. Pua agreed to plead guilty and testify against Ms. Castillo. 11/29/12RP 5; 4/16/13RP 71. He said that on September 30, 2011, Ms. Castillo called him at the Traveler's Choice and said she needed his help. 11/29/12RP 6, 9-10; 4/16/13RP 76-78. He said when he got to Mr. Mendoza-Gomez's brother's apartment, Ms. Castillo handed him a gun and told him Mr. Mendoza-Gomez said to take Mr. Zuozo-Moreno in the car and kill him. 11/29/12RP 11-12, 18-19; 4/16/13RP 84-91. Mr. Pua admitted beating Mr. Zuozo-Moreno inside the Shell station store but said Ms. Castillo did not tell him to beat him. 11/29/12RP 57-58; 4/16/13RP 129. He said Mr. Mendoza-Gomez later gave him \$300 and a small amount of methamphetamine for his participation in the incident. 11/29/12RP 61; 4/16/13RP 131-33. He did not know whether Ms. Castillo was paid. 11/29/12RP 61; 4/16/13RP 131-33.

Ms. Castillo's arrest

After some investigation, the police identified Ms. Castillo as a suspect and she was arrested several days later after the police stopped a Jeep Cherokee in which she was riding. 11/28/12RP 81. Mr. Tharp was driving the Jeep and Ms. Castillo was sitting in the front passenger seat. 12/04/12RP 78-79. Ms. Castillo's young son was sitting in a child seat in the passenger seat behind her and another man was sitting in the other rear passenger seat. 12/04/12RP 78-79. The Jeep belonged to someone named "Nicole." 12/10/12RP 29-31.

The police searched a purse that Ms. Castillo had been carrying, which was located on the front passenger seat. 11/28/12RP 74; 12/05/12RP 12. Inside the purse was a quantity of methamphetamine and a .380 semiautomatic pistol. 11/28/12RP 75; 12/05/12RP 52-55; 12/10/12RP 96-97. Mr. Castillo was not carrying the handgun during the incident; Mr. Mendoza-Gomez gave it to her afterward for her protection after she began receiving threatening text messages from Mr. Zuozo-Moreno's cousin. 12/17/12RP 76-77. She never used the gun. 12/17/12RP 78. The methamphetamine found in her purse was for her own personal use. 12/17/12RP 90.

The magazine in the pistol in Ms. Castillo's purse contained five live rounds. 12/05/12RP 52-55. But when the police test-fired the gun, it would not fire because the hammer failed and it did not have a firing pin. 12/05/12RP 61-62, 96. The police found three other handguns and two rifles in the Jeep. 12/05/12RP 56, 69-78, 94-95, 102.

3. The criminal charges and the two trials

Ms. Castillo was charged with (1) conspiracy to commit murder in the first degree, RCW 9A.28.040(1) and 9A.32.030(1)(a), with a firearm enhancement allegation; (2) first degree kidnapping, alleging she intentionally abducted Moreno with intent to inflict bodily injury, RCW 9A.40.020(1)(c), with a firearm enhancement allegation; (3) unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree, RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)(i); and (4) possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver or manufacture, RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(b). CP 17-19.

Following a trial at which she was tried alone, the jury found Ms. Castillo guilty of first degree kidnapping while armed with a firearm; guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree; and guilty of the lesser crime of possession of methamphetamine. CP 116-19. The jury was deadlocked on the conspiracy and the court declared a mistrial. 12/19/12RP 2, 9; CP 120.

The court joined Ms. Castillo's case with Mr. Mendoza-Gomez's case for the retrial. 3/05/13RP 32. Following the second trial, the jury found her guilty as charged of conspiracy to commit first degree murder while armed with a firearm. CP 217-18.

4. The sentencing hearing

At sentencing the court found the kidnapping and conspiracy were the same criminal conduct. 7/12/13RP 4. The court imposed a standard-range sentence based on an offender score of four. 7/12/13RP 6; CP 125, 127, 220, 222.

D. ARGUMENT

- The information omitted essential elements of the charged crime of conspiracy to commit first degree murder
 - a. To ensure the accused receives adequate notice of the charge, the Constitution requires the charging document contain all essential elements of the crime

It is a fundamental principle of criminal procedure, embodied in the state and federal constitutions, that an accused person must be informed of the criminal charge she is to meet at trial and cannot be tried for an offense not charged. U.S. Const. amend. VI;³ Const. art. I,

³ The Sixth Amendment provides: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to . . . be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation."

§ 22;⁴ State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). All essential elements of the crime must be included in the information so as to apprise the accused of the charge and allow her to prepare a defense, and so that she may plead the judgment as a bar to any subsequent prosecution for the same offense. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101-02, 812 P.2d 86 (1991).

The judicially approved means of ensuring constitutionally adequate notice is to require a charging document set forth all of the essential elements of the alleged crime. See State v. Taylor, 140 Wn.2d 229, 236, 996 P.2d 571 (2000). This "essential elements rule" has long been settled law in Washington and is constitutionally mandated. State v. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d 499, 503, 192 P.3d 342 (2008) (citing Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 788).

A charging document is constitutionally adequate only if all essential elements are included on the face of the document, regardless of whether the accused received actual notice of the charge.

Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 790.

⁴ Article I, section 22 provides: "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to . . . demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him [and] to have a copy thereof."

When an information is challenged for the first time on appeal, it is to be construed liberally and will be deemed sufficient if the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction may be found, on the face of the document. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105.

Although it is not necessary "to use the exact words of a statute in a charging document," an information will be deemed sufficient only if "words conveying the same meaning and import are used." Id. at 108. "If the document cannot be construed to give notice of or to contain in some manner the essential elements of a crime, the most liberal reading cannot cure it." State v. Moavenzadeh, 135 Wn.2d 359, 362-63, 956 P.2d 1097 (1998) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

b. The information omitted the essential elements that Ms. Castillo agreed with one or more persons to engage in criminal conduct, and that any one of them took a substantial step in pursuance of the agreement

The conspiracy statute sets forth the following elements:

A person is guilty of criminal conspiracy when, with intent that conduct constituting a crime be performed, he or she agrees with one or more persons to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and any one of them takes a substantial step in pursuance of such agreement. RCW 9A.28.040(1). The essential elements of the crime that must be included in the information are (1) that the accused agreed with one or more persons to commit a crime, and (2) that any one of them took a substantial step toward completion of the agreement. Moavenzadeh, 135 Wn.2d at 364.

An information that alleges the accused "did conspire with another or others" to commit a crime may be sufficient to allege the required element of an agreement among two or more persons to commit a crime. Moavenzadeh, 135 Wn.2d at 361, 364. That is because the meaning of the word "conspiracy" is commonly understood to include an agreement to commit a crime. Id. at 364.

But the term "conspiracy" is not by itself sufficient to allege the "substantial step" element. <u>Id</u>. "The mere use of the term 'conspiracy' does not necessarily imply that any member of the conspiracy took a substantial step in furtherance of the agreement." <u>State v. McCarty</u>, 140 Wn.2d 420, 427, 998 P.2d 296 (2000). That is because "[t]he mere existence of an agreement implies nothing about whether any of the conspirators acted on it." <u>Id</u>.

Here, the information omitted both of the essential elements of the crime of conspiracy. Count I of the information provided: I, Daniel T. Satterberg, Prosecuting Attorney for King County in the name and by the authority of the State of Washington, do accuse AMALIA M.

CASTILLO AKA AMALIA M. CERVANTES and FRANCISCO MENDOZA-GOMEZ, and each of them, of the crime of Conspiracy to Commit Murder in the First Degree, a crime of the same or similar character as another crime charged herein, which crimes were part of a common scheme or plan and which crimes were so closely connected in respect to time, place and occasion that it would be difficult to separate proof of one charge from proof of the other, committed as follows:

That the defendants AMALIA M. CASTILLO AKA AMALIA M. CERVANTES and FRANCISCO MENDOZA-GOMEZ, and each of them, together with others, in King County, Washington, on or about September 30, 2011, with intent that conduct constituting the crime of Murder in the First Degree of Isais Lozano aka Juan Zuozo-Moreno, to-wit: with premeditated intent to cause the death of Isais Lozano aka Juan Zuozo-Moreno, be performed, agreed with to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and the defendant or took a substantial step in the pursuance of such agreement.

Contrary to RCW 9A.28.040(1) and 9A.32.030(1)(a), and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.⁵

First, the information omitted the essential element that Ms.

Castillo agreed with one or more persons to commit a crime. The information alleged that, with intent to commit first degree murder, Ms.

⁵ This document, the Fifth Amended Information, was filed as Sub #90 in the court file of Ms. Castillo's co-defendant, Francisco Mendoza-Gomez. A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed in this Court designating the document as part of Ms. Castillo's appeal.

Castillo "agreed with to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct." <u>Id</u>. The information omitted the essential element that Ms. Castillo "agree[d] with *one or more persons* to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct." RCW 9A.28.040(1) (emphasis added).

Second, the information omitted the essential "substantial step" element. The information alleged that "the defendant or took a substantial step in the pursuance of such agreement." The information omitted the essential element that "any one of [the conspirators] t[ook] a substantial step in pursuance of such agreement." RCW 9A.28.040(1). The State was required to allege not just that Ms. Castillo took a substantial step, but that "any member of the conspiracy" took such a substantial step. McCarty, 140 Wn.2d at 427 (emphasis added). Although the use of the term "conspiracy" in the document may have been sufficient to allege that Ms. Castillo agreed with one or more persons to commit a crime, it was not sufficient to allege that any one of the conspirators acted on it. Id.

The necessary fact that *any member* of the conspiracy took a substantial step in furtherance of the agreement does not appear in any form on the face of the document. The information is therefore constitutionally deficient. <u>Kjorsvik</u>, 117 Wn.2d at 105.

 The conspiracy conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed without prejudice

If the reviewing court concludes the necessary elements are not found or fairly implied in the charging document, the court must presume prejudice. McCarty, 140 Wn.2d at 425. The remedy is reversal of the conviction and dismissal of the charge without prejudice to the State's ability to re-file the charge. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 792-93. Because essential elements are missing from the information, Ms. Castillo's conspiracy conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed without prejudice.

2. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. Castillo possessed an operable firearm, as required to sustain the conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm

It is fundamental that an accused is presumed innocent of a criminal charge and the State has the burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244, 294, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). Constitutional due process requires the State to prove every element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L.

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