UI

NO. 70099-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

AMALIA M. CASTILLO,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY
THE HONORABLE BRIAN GAIN AND BILL BOWMAN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID SEAVER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE AMENDED INFORMATION WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY SUFFICIENT

On appeal, Castillo claims for the first time that reversal of her conviction for conspiracy to commit murder is warranted because the final amended information that included that charge omitted essential elements of the crime. The State recognizes that the relevant charging document was, indeed, somewhat poorly drafted. Nevertheless, Castillo's claim should be rejected, because a common-sense reading of the amended information enables the reader to identify all of the elements that the State was obligated to prove, and Castillo cannot plausibly demonstrate that she lacked adequate notice to prepare her defense.

The purpose of an information is to provide the defendant with the requisite notice of the accusation against her and so enable her to prepare an appropriate defense. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). When a defendant challenges the charging document for the first time on appeal, the appellate court must liberally construe all of the information in the charging document in favor of validity. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 102. The test to determine the sufficiency of a charging document under Kjorsvik has two prongs: "(1) do the necessary facts appear in any

form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document; and, if so, (2) can the defendant show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice?" Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105-06.

Applying the first prong of the <u>Kjorsvik</u> test, the reviewing court looks at the face of the document only. The information must be written in such a manner as to enable persons of common understanding to know what is intended. <u>State v. Simon</u>, 120 Wn.2d 196, 199, 840 P.2d 172 (1992). As the state supreme court has noted, if "the information contains allegations that express the crime which was meant to be charged, it is sufficient even though it does not contain the [precise] statutory language." <u>State v. Hopper</u>, 118 Wn.2d 151, 156, 822 P.2d 775 (1992). A reviewing court should be "guided by common sense and practicality in construing the language," and even missing elements "may be implied if the language supports such a result." <u>Id.</u>

Here, Castillo contends that reversal is required because the amended information contained two omissions that, she asserts, rendered her unable to mount a suitable defense to the conspiracy charge. The first count of the charging document accused both

Castillo and Francisco Mendoza-Gomez of the crime of Conspiracy to Commit Murder in the First Degree, "committed as follows":

That the defendants AMALIA M. CASTILLO AKA AMALIA M. CERVANTES and FRANCISCO MENDOZA-GOMEZ, and each of them, together with others, in King County, Washington, on or about September 30, 3011, with intent that conduct constituting the crime of Murder in the First Degree of Isais Lozano aka Juan Zuozo-Moreno, to-wit: with premeditated intent to cause the death of Isais Lozano aka Juan Zuozo-Moreno, be performed, agreed with [sic] to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and the defendant or [sic] took a substantial step in the pursuance of such agreement.

CP 234.

As the "[sic]" notations added here by the undersigned acknowledge, Castillo is correct in noting that the charging document lacked language found in the relevant conspiracy statute, RCW 9A.28.040(1). Specifically, the information does not expressly state that the accused agreed "with one or more persons" to engage in the performance of the criminal conduct, nor does it state that "any one of them" (i.e., any one of multiple conspirators) took a substantial step in pursuance of the agreement. Compare RCW 9A.28.040(1) and CP 234.

Nevertheless, it is incorrect to suggest, as Castillo does, that the omissions were so egregious as to justify reversal in light of her

untimely challenge to the sufficiency of the charging document.

The fact that Castillo was alleged to have formed a compact with other individuals is readily apparent from a common-sense reading of the charge. It was alleged that Castillo, as well as a specific codefendant, and "together with others," "agreed" to engage in particular illegal conduct against a single individual on a precise date. CP 234. One cannot "agree" with oneself; the term necessarily suggests a meeting of minds.

It is equally difficult to find prejudice from absence of the term "or any one of [the conspirators]." It must again be noted that Castillo was charged in this count as a defendant along with another person, and the count specifically states that "the defendant" took a substantial step in furtherance of the ill-intentioned agreement. The term "the defendant" can apply either to Castillo or Mendoza-Gomez, i.e., to any one of multiple conspirators.

Indeed, the presence of a co-defendant in the charging document can reasonably lead one to conclude that there was, for practical purposes, surplusage in this count. That is, if the words "with" and "or" had not been used, the information would contain virtually no defect:

That the defendants AMALIA M. CASTILLO AKA AMALIA M. CERVANTES and FRANCISCO MENDOZA-GOMEZ, and each of them, together with others, in King County, Washington, on or about September 30, 3011, with intent that conduct constituting the crime of Murder in the First Degree of Isais Lozano aka Juan Zuozo-Moreno, to-wit: with premeditated intent to cause the death of Isais Lozano aka Juan Zuozo-Moreno, be performed, agreed to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and the defendant took a substantial step in the pursuance of such agreement.

If the first prong of the Kjorsvik test is satisfied, the reviewing court, in applying the second prong of the test "may look beyond the face of the charging document to determine if the accused actually received notice of the charges he or she must have been prepared to defend against." Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 106. With regard to this second prong, it must be emphasized that Castillo's conviction for conspiracy to commit murder resulted from her second trial, after the jury at her first trial was unable to reach a verdict on this charge. Castillo had, by the time of her retrial, already been made abundantly aware what the State's case amounted to, and how it intended to prove her culpability for conspiracy. It is, accordingly, hard to accept Castillo's proposition that she was unable, due to a lack of adequate notice via the amended information, to mount a suitable defense to this count.

2. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT CASTILLO'S CONVICTION FOR UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

Next, Castillo argues that her conviction, at her first trial, for second-degree unlawful possession of a firearm must be reversed and dismissed with prejudice. She asserts that the State did not present sufficient evidence to prove that she possessed any of the firearms found by arresting officers when they stopped the Jeep she was riding in on October 12, 2011. Her contention is without merit.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, it permits a rational trier of fact to find the elements of the charged offense proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). A claim of evidentiary insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

A number of firearms were recovered in the Jeep that was stopped by officers on October 12, 2011. A .380 semiautomatic pistol was found in Castillo's purse although that weapon lacked its

firing pin. 12/5/2012 RP 60, 62. Officers found another .380 handgun – this one immediately operational – on the floorboard under the infant seat on which Castillo's child sat in the rear of the passenger compartment. 12/5/2012 RP 10-12, 71. A .45 caliber pistol was located inside a rolling briefcase found in the back of the Jeep; this, too, was able to be fired without any difficulty. 12/5/2012 RP 72, 74-75. In addition, an operational .380 was found between the driver's seat and center console, and two rifles were also found in the rear storage area. 11/28/2012 RP 76; 12/5/2012 RP 75, 77.

In his closing argument, the deputy prosecutor deemphasized the gun found in Castillo's purse, observing that it was not immediately operational. 12/18/2012 RP 40. The State recognizes that there was scant evidence presented to the jury regarding the steps that would need to be taken to make this pistol functional as a firearm. Cf. State v. Raleigh, 157 Wn. App. 728, 736, 238 P.3d 1211 (2010) (finding that sufficient evidence existed to demonstrate operability of firearm found without firing pin when officer demonstrated to jury how to re-install the firing pin).

This does not, however, absolve Castillo of culpability entirely. Possession may be actual or constructive. State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 798, 872 P.2d 502 (1994). To establish

constructive possession, the State must show that the defendant had dominion and control over the item in question. State v.

Nyegaard, 154 Wn. App. 641, 647, 226 P.3d 783 (2010). No single factor is dispositive in determining such dominion and control; rather, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. State v. Turner, 103 Wn. App. 515, 521, 13 P.3d 234 (2000).

The jury's verdict here was abundantly reasonable. First, the jurors heard plentiful testimony, from fellow conspirator Agalega Pua and the victim, about Castillo's exposure to firearms.

11/29/2012 18-23; 12/13/2012 RP 91-96, 113-16. She was surely no neophyte to the handling and use of guns. Furthermore, Castillo herself testified that one of her duties to Mendoza-Gomez was to take care of his vehicles, and that she had keys to all of them, including the Jeep. 12/17/2012 RP 41. The confined area within the Jeep to which Castillo had access at the time leading up to her arrest contained four handguns and two rifles. The jury would have been quite justified in concluding that she was not only in mere proximity to this arsenal, but that she exercised a degree of control over some or all of them.

Moreover, one of the operational pistols was found directly underneath Castillo's child. 12/5/2012 RP 12. The jury could have

understandably rejected Castillo's testimony that another person put her child in the car seat and reasonably inferred that she instead had, and that she either placed the gun on the floorboard at that time or put it there when stopped by officers, or even directed another adult in the car to do so at some point in time. See Turner, 103 Wn. App. at 521 (observing that one can be in constructive possession jointly with another person).

Finally, Castillo testified that the bag in which the .45 caliber pistol was found was her personal laptop carrier. 12/17/2012 RP 85. Castillo's assertions that another person placed both her child and all of her belongings in the Jeep, and was thus responsible for any weapons found near or inside them, were quite dubious in light of the totality of the circumstances. The jury could have, quite easily, rejected Castillo's claims of ignorance and concluded that she put the .45 caliber pistol in her own bag, and thus maintained dominion and control over that weapon.

The jury needed only to conclude that Castillo constructively possessed any of the five operational firearms found inside the Jeep in which she rode with her child, and for which she had the keys. The jury had sufficient evidence on which to conclude that Castillo's relationship to at least one of those weapons was more

than a mere matter of proximity. Her claim should be rejected and her conviction affirmed.

3. CASTILLO WAIVED HER ABILITY TO CHALLENGE HER OFFENDER SCORE ON APPEAL

Finally, Castillo asserts that the trial courts that sentenced her following her convictions at her first and second trials erred because their calculations of her offender score included two pre-existing VUCSA convictions. Castillo now contends that these convictions should not have been considered absent proof by the State of their existence and applicability, and that the trial courts were obligated to determine whether the two convictions amounted to the same criminal conduct. See Brief of Appellant, at 27-35.

Castillo's request for resentencing should be denied. A defendant who knowingly, affirmatively, and voluntarily stipulates to an offender score that necessarily includes prior convictions waives her right to later challenge her offender score on appeal. See In re Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 874-75, 50 P.3d 618 (2002) (distinguishing between stipulations based on facts and those based on errors of law). Similarly, a defendant's affirmative acknowledgement to an offender score prevents him from afterward arguing that particular convictions counted in the calculation of that

score amount to same criminal conduct. <u>Id.</u> at 875, <u>citing State v.</u>

<u>Nitsch</u>, 100 Wn. App. 512, 997 P.2d 1000 (2000).

At Castillo's sentencing following her first trial, she expressly acknowledged that she had an offender score of 4, based on her multiple current convictions and her prior VUCSA offenses:

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. And, Ms. Cruz, before I hear from you, do you agree that the offender score of 4 is accurate?

MS. CRUZ: That is correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

MS. CRUZ: We do agree.... If you look at her priors, she has one prior with two counts, and those were indeed for prior VUCSAs.

2/21/13 RP 100-01.

. . .

At the sentencing following her retrial for conspiracy to commit murder, Castillo again responded affirmatively during a discussion about her score:

THE COURT: ...As I've said, I think that brings the Offender's Score to a 4 for Ms. Cervantes, and I think if you do the calculations with the Conspiracy for Murder I and multiply it by .75, I think it gets us to a standard range of 211.5 to 280.5 months prior to the application of the firearm enhancements. So I'll just ask counsel to look over those numbers and make sure they're correct.

MS. CRUZ: I was getting 210.75, Your Honor, so you rounded up – you had 211 and a half.

THE COURT: I had 211.5. So I have the standard range at an Offender's Score of 4 on a Murder I at 282 to 374.

MS. CRUZ: Okay.

7/12/2013 RP 6.

The trial courts were entitled to rely on Castillo's express representations as to her score. The courts did not need to insist upon further proof or engage in discretion that Castillo actively excused them from undertaking. Her reliance on State v. Lucero, 168 Wn.2d 785, 230 P.3d 165 (2010), and State v. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d 913, 205 P.3d 113 (2009), is misplaced. Those decisions stand for the proposition that neither a defendant's mere failure to object to the State's representation of her criminal history, nor her recommendation of a sentence consistent with the range proposed by the prosecution, prevents her from challenging that representation on appeal.

Here, in contrast, Castillo invited the purported error she now identifies. She did far more than stand idly by while the State and the trial court attempted to determine her offender score. Castillo confirmed to each court directly that she had an offender score of four points, which necessarily included both prior VUCSA

convictions and which necessarily treated them as separate offenses to be counted as one point each. To allow a defendant to obtain resentencing under such circumstances would countenance more than simple sandbagging. It would effectively encourage any defendant to actively mislead a sentencing court, secure in the knowledge that she could later obtain resentencing on the basis of trial court inaction that was caused by her own misrepresentations.

D. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this

Court to affirm Castillo's convictions and the trial courts' judgments
and sentences with regard to her offender score. The State agrees
with Castillo that her February 21, 2013, judgment and sentence
should be remanded for correction of a scrivener's error that
wrongly indicates a conviction for possession of methamphetamine
with intent to deliver. Castillo was, in fact, convicted of simple
possession.